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Financial Highlights

For the year ended 31st March 2019 Change

(In HK$ million, except otherwise indicated)

Consolidated profit and loss account ... [N
R S & e
Operating profit 1,969 -18%

Profit attributable to shareholders of the Company [GGaa . S0 S
Earnings per share - basic (HK$) 0.96 -31%

Consolidated balance sheet ... [N
L O 3593 - N T E )
et ... >>/12C . R X
Equity attributable to shareholders of the Company GGG . AT
Net debt 16,390 +9%

Supplementary information with hotel properties in operation at valuation (note):

Revalued total assets 49,448 49,694 -1%
Revalued net assets 29,219 31,401 7%
Equity attributable to shareholders of the Company 15,023 16,110 7%
Gearing - net debt to revalued net assets 61% 52% +9%

Note:  According to the Group’s accounting policies, hotel properties were carried at cost less accumulated depreciation. To give further

information on the economic substance of its hotel properties investments, the Group hereby presents supplementary unaudited
financial information taking into account the fair market value of hotel properties and excluding the corresponding deferred income
tax on Hong Kong properties as Hong Kong tax jurisdiction does not include capital gain tax.

The hotel properties were revalued by Vigers Appraisal & Consulting Limited, independent professional valuer, on an open market

value basis.




Asia Orient Holdings Limited Annual Report 2020

Chairman’s Statement

Dukes Place in Jardine’s Lookout

This year has been a challenging year for the Group, with
the local political events lasting from second half of 2019,
and the corona virus pandemic outbreak in the beginning
of 2020, which significantly impacted the business and
operating environment of Hong Kong. Against that
background, the Group strived every effort and delivered
a profit attributable to shareholders of HK$554 million for
the year.

The result of the Group’s property sales in Beijing and
Shanghai was satisfactory before the virus outbreak, and
is encouraging upon the mainland government gradually
re-opens the economy, when we recorded a rebound

in April and May. Sales of the Dukes Place in Jardine’s
Lookout Hong Kong also progressed well where over HK$1
billion sales were contracted as of end May 2020.

Income from financial investments grew by more than 25%
and continues to be a strong pillar of the Group’s recurring
income and liquid assets. The US monetary easing
provides abundant liquidity into the financial systems and
upkeeps the momentum of the financial market.

The Group’s leasing income from its asset management
business had benefited from the repositioned tenant mix
of its Wanchai commercial asset and was stable for the

past two years. Nevertheless, its investment property
portfolio recorded a revaluation decrease, following the
market trend.

Hotel performance was weak, and management has
exerted great efforts in minimising cost before recovery is
seen.

The pandemic, Sino-US political conflicts and local social
events impose a significant threat to the Hong Kong
economy. Management stays cautious and prudent in
the challenges and uncertainties we face. On the other
hand, the adequate liquidity places the Group in a strong
financial position to capture any development and
investment opportunity that may arise.

Management takes this opportunity to thank all our staff

for their efforts contributed in keeping the Group growing
and moving forward.

Fung Siu To, Clement
Chairman

Hong Kong, 26th June 2020




The Group is principally engaged in developing and
investing properties in prime location in Hong Kong,
first-tier cities in China and Vancouver, Canada, and has
established a well diversified business model across

four main operating segments - property development,
property leasing, hotel and travel, and financial
investments. While our property development arm acts as
the core drive for the Company’s growth, rental income
from our prime investment properties, earnings from our
hotels and dividend/coupon payments from our financial
investment portfolio provide us with a stable, reliable

and recurring income source to the Group. Our business
diversification also reduces the adverse impact of market
volatility and offset the impact of cyclicality to which some
of our businesses are exposed.

The Group will stay focus on enhancing the performance
of its core business and will continuously generate value
to the shareholders by exploring investment opportunities
in line with the following strategies:

(i) Build on our reputation and track record of
premium property development in Greater China
Our development strategy is to continue to invest
primarily in Hong Kong and first-tier cities in China.
The Group will continue to expand its property
development business through carefully selected
opportunities in luxury as well as mass market
residential development. Leveraging our expertise
as a premium residential developer with an
international standard, we will continue to look for
opportunities to increase our presence in Greater
China.
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Business Model and Strategies

(i) Growing recurring income from investment
properties and financial investment portfolio
The Group has a diversified property and financial
investment portfolio generating a recurring and
steady income stream. Our investment properties
comprise a mix of commercial and retail spaces
situated in core central business district in Hong
Kong. The Group’s financial investment portfolio
provides a liquidity buffer and recurring income
as well as a diversified cash flow stream, enabling
us to finance existing projects and seize potential
investment as opportunities arise.

(iii)  To expand and grow our hotel business in prime
CBDs and to strive for excellence in management
and operations
The Group owns and operates five hotels under
the “Empire” brand, all of which are in Hong
Kong. Our hotels in Hong Kong are situated within
central hubs and are targeted at business travelers
as well as visitors from the PRC. Our hospitality
chain has a centralised management team to
optimise revenue generation and ensuring efficient
deployment of resources for achieving maximum
cost benefit. The prime locations further allow
us to cater to both business visitors and tourists,
which together with our competitive pricing has led
us to maintain a high occupancy and RevPAR at our
hotels.

(iv)  Continue to manage risk effectively, through a
prudent financial management policy
The Group aims to monitor risk and manage debt
exposures in a disciplined and prudent manner.
The Group strives to maintain a strong financial
position with a healthy level of liquidity and
reasonable level of gearing.

We are confident that our strategies will deliver maximum
value to the shareholder in the long term.
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Management
Discussion and
Analysis

RESULTS

The Group’s revenue for the year amounted to HK$2,632 million (2019: HK$2,420 million),
with profit attributable to shareholders of the Company at HK$554 million (2019: HK$810
million). The increase in investment income has well compensated the income reduction
in our hotel segment, resulting in a net increase of 9% in total revenue. Furthermore, the
Group recorded a revaluation loss from its investment properties, which when compared
with the surplus last year, resulted in a decrease in profit attributable to shareholders.

Recurring income (Gross revenue)

Financial investments
I Hotel and travel
Il Property leasing

HK$'M
3,000

2,500
2,000
1,500

1,000

. .
0

FY17/18 FY18/19 FY19/20




Development project (“It ZX « R #”) in Tongzhou, Beijing

PROPERTY SALES,
DEVELOPMENT AND LEASING

SALES AND DEVELOPMENT

Mainland China

In Tongzhou, Beijing, sub-structure works for the
residential towers of our 2.3 million sq. ft. GFA joint
venture mixed-use development has been completed
shortly after interim period. Superstructure works have
also commenced this year and is well in progress. Presale
of the residential units has commenced since mid-July
2019 and has been well received. Up to end of May 2020,
the project recorded a contracted sales of approximately
RMBL.7 billion. Profit recognition will begin upon delivery
of the flats to its buyers.

In Shanghai’s Queen’s Gate, a high-end joint venture villas
and apartments development, sales of the last phase

has also begun in mid-July 2019. Up to end of May 2020,
more than 90% units of this phase has been sold, resulted
in a contracted sales of approximately RMBO0.9 billion.
Approximately 80% of these sales was recognised in the
year.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Hong Kong

In Jardine’s Lookout, the Group has continued its sales
and marketing efforts of the joint venture residential
development, Dukes Place, which comprises sixteen
residential apartments ranging from 2,850 sq. ft. to over
6,800 sq. ft. Up to end of May 2020, sales have amounted
to approximately HK$1.2 billion. The related profits will
be accounted for in the coming financial year when these
units are delivered to the homebuyers.

On Po Shan Road, foundation works of another luxurious
joint venture residential development had just completed,
while superstructure works is due to commence.

In Hung Shui Kiu, Yuen Long, provisional basic terms

of land exchange for the commercial and residential
development has been concluded. We are now in

the course of land premium negotiation with Lands
Department. The development will provide approximately
520,000 sq. ft. of GFA, of which approximately 90% are
of residential apartments for sale. Another residential
development at Lam Tei light-rail station nearby is in

the early stage of land exchange application with the
government. The development has approximately 67,000
sq. ft. of residential GFA.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Landmark on Robson: residential development project in downtown
vancouver

In Kowloon Bay, the commercial building Octa Tower has
been renamed to “Harbourside HQ”. The commercial
building provides approximately 800,000 sq. ft.
leaseable GFA. The building is undergoing renovation and
refurbishment and completion is expected to be towards
the 4th quarter of 2020.

During the year, the Group, through a joint venture, has
accumulated some agricultural land in the New Territories,
which is zoned as “residential use” under the current
outline zoning plan.

In March 2020, the Group with its 50% joint venture
partner acquired a detached house in Repulse Bay, which
would be re-developed into brand new single-family
estate.

Canada (development through hotel subsidiary
group)

Demolition of our Empire Landmark Hotel is substantially
completed and excavation and shoring works are ongoing.
Upon completion, the redevelopment of the hotel will
provide approximately 400,000 sq. ft. GFA mixed-use
development with two residential towers (“Landmark

on Rohson”). Since the launch of presale in 2018, the
development had achieved a contracted sales of CAD140
million up to 31st March 2020.

Development permit of a joint venture redevelopment
of high-end residential complex of approximate 627,000
sq. ft. GFA in Alberni Street, downtown Vancouver has
been submitted, where the Prior-to Letter outlining the
conditions for approval was received from local city
council in June 2019.

Another joint venture development that is also located on
Alberni Street in downtown Vancouver is in the planning
stage for development into premium residential units for
sale. The rezoning package has been submitted to the City
in early 2020.

LEASING

Leasing income of YF Life Tower (previously MassMutual
Tower), 33 Lockhart Road in Wanchai and Asia Standard
Tower in Queen’s Road Central has slightly increased
comparing to last year. Average occupancies of these
office towers remained high at above 95% for both
financial years.

Overall leasing income attributable to Asia Standard
International for the year was HK$236 million (2019:
HK$235 million). Net revaluation loss (taking into account
our share of revaluation loss (2019: gain) from the
investment property owned by an associated company)
of HK$274 million (2019: gain of HK$885 million) was
recorded.




Empire Hotel Hong Kong - Executive studio suite

HOTEL

During the financial year, overnight stay visitors to Hong
Kong had decreased by 42.5% to approximately 17.3
million. Mainland visitors, which traditionally dominated
this segment with 68% share, also saw their arrivals
decreased by 43% from last year. Total hotel rooms in
Hong Kong are approximately 84,000 rooms, an increase
of 1% over last year.

Following the local socio-political events in the second half
of 2019 and the worldwide lockdowns from the outbreak
of COVID-19 in January 2020, our hotel operation was
severely impacted with annual revenue declined by 45%
to HK$297 million (2019: HK$543 million). During the
financial year, average occupancies for our hotels were
approximately 61% (2019: 93%) while average room
rates fell by one third. The losses increased drastically in
the first quarter 2020 and management took immediate
action to reduce operational costs, deferred capital
spending plans, preserve cash resources and retain
adequate banking facilities to finance working capital
needs. Overall, contribution to segment results before
depreciation decreased from HK$210 million to HK$24
million, a decrease of 88%.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

FINANCIAL INVESTMENTS

At 31st March 2020, the Group held financial investments
of approximately HK$16,331 million (2019: HK$17,609
million), with HK$14,436 million (2019: HK$15,601 million)
held by the two listed subsidiary groups. The investment
portfolio comprised of 96% listed debt securities (mostly
issued by PRC-based real estate companies), 2% by listed
equity securities and 2% unlisted investments. They are
denominated in different currencies with 96% in United
States dollar, 4% in other currencies (mostly Hong Kong
dollar).

The portfolio’s decrease was due to net addition of
HK$1,198 million and a mark-to-market valuation net
loss of HK$2,476 million, of which a net investment loss
of HK$157 million was charged to profit and loss while
the remaining HK$2,319 million were recognised in the
investment reserve account. The net investment loss
comprised net fair value losses of listed equity securities,
exchange losses, and provisions for expected credit loss
and impairment charges, compensated by realised gain
upon partial disposal/redemption of the securities. The
drop in market price is mainly due to the significant
market sell-off in March 2020 following the COVID-19
pandemic outbreak. Afterwards in April and May 2020, the
market experienced a strong rebound.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Income from this investment portfolio amounted to
HK$2,060 million (2019: HK$1,635 million). The increase
was resulted from further investment in debt securities.

At 31st March 2020, an approximate value of HK$2,560
million (2019: HK$2,120 million) of these investments were
pledged to banks as collateral for credit facilities granted
to the Group.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

At 31st March 2020, the Group had over HK$6.2 billion
(2019: HK$7.7 billion) cash and undrawn banking facilities.
The financing and treasury activities of our three listed
groups are independently administered.

At 31st March 2020, the Group’s total assets were
approximately HK$43.9 billion (2019: HK$43.7 billion), the
net assets were HK$23.1 billion (2019: HK$24.8 billion).
Adopting market value of hotel properties in operation,
the revalued total assets were HK$49.4 billion (2019:
HK$49.7 billion), a decrease of 1%, and the revalued net
assets were HK$29.2 hillion (2019: HK$31.4 billion), a
decrease of 7%.

Liquidity & cash reserves

Il Listed financial investments
Hl Bank balance & cash
HK$M Il Debts repayable within one year

20,000
15,000
10,000

5,000

0 I

3/2018 3/2019 3/2020

Net debt was HK$17.9 billion (2019: HK$16.4 billion),

of which HK$0.6 hillion (2019: HK$0.7 billion) was
attributable to the parent group. Total interest cost
increased as a result of increased borrowings together
with market interest rate hikes. Currently, the Group’s
gearing ratio (net debt to revalued net asset value) is
approximately 61% (2019: 52%). As at 31st March 2020,
the Group had net current assets of HK$11.5 billion (2019:
HK$14.7 billion) and the HK$17.4 billion aggregate amount
of marketable securities and cash together represented
2.7 times of the HK$6.4 hillion current debt repayable
within 12 months.

64% of the debts are secured and 99% of the debts

are at floating rates. As at 31st March 2020, about 25%
of these floating rates debts have been hedged against
HIBOR fluctuations by entering into various interest

rate swap contracts of HK$4,900 million in total, with
approximately 84% having maturities of 5 years, and the
remaining between 2 and 10 years. The maturities of our
debts spread over a long period of up to 6 years, with 3%
repayable after 5 years and 64% repayable between one
to five years. The remaining 33% comprise medium term
notes, overdraft, revolving and short-term loans and are
repayable within 1 year. The medium term notes were fully
redeemed in April 2020.

Revalued total assets*,
revalued net assets* and net debt

I Revalued total assets*
Hl Revalued net assets*
HKS'M I Net debt

50,000 | |

3/2018

40,000

30,000

20,000

10,000

3/2019 3/2020

* with hotel properties in operation stated at valuation
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Approximately 94% of the Group’s borrowings are in
Hong Kong dollars and the remaining 6% in United States
dollars and Canadian dollars.

As at 31st March 2020, property assets with an aggregate
net book value of HK$21.5 billion (2019: HK$20.0 billion)
were pledged to secure banking facilities of the Group.
HK$2,999 million (2019: HK$2,733 million) guarantees
were provided to financial institutions and third parties
against outstanding loans of joint ventures.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION
POLICIES

At 31st March 2020, the Group employed approximately
340 (2019: 470) employees. The remuneration packages
including basic salary, annual bonus, share options,
retirement and other benefits are commensurate with
their job nature and level of experience.

FUTURE PROSPECT

Since the start of 2020, economies worldwide were
adversely affected by the corona-virus outbreak. Economic
recession data were repeatedly reported during periods
of social lockdown. Central governments have since rolled
out stimulus packages in an effort to sustain employment
and survival of various industries. As the governments
have experienced success in containing the pandemic,
they are cautiously re-opening their economies, aiming

to restore the economy to its original state before the
outbreak.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Hong Kong's economy has been adversely impacted by
local political event since the second half of 2019, and was
deeply worsened following the pandemic outbreak. The
impact has already demonstrated in our hotel operation
performance and also in most service sectors. The leasing
segment, especially the retail portion, has also been
negatively affected. With the pandemic under control in
Hong Kong, we are seeing a gradual re-opening of various
economies. On the other hand, Hong Kong's residential
property market remains very strong, as seen in the
encouraging sales of our Jardine’s Lookout project lately.
Property sales of our Beijing and Shanghai joint venture
projects is satisfactory following the resumption of sales
activities after the lockdown. The Shanghai projects was
almost fully sold and with the stabilisation of mainland
property market, we expect the performance of the Beijing
project would remain favourable for its remaining phases.

Financial markets continue to be volatile, especially from
the Sino-US trade disputes, now further exaggerated

by the US accusation of China on various fronts. The US
Federal Reserve and other central banks have made deep
interest rates cut to counteract the negative economic
impact brought by the pandemic which, together with the
tremendous liquidity injected into the financial system, has
helped sustain the upward momentum. Our investment in
fixed income securities continues to be a strong pillar in
providing a stable income stream and liquidity and enables
us to capitalise on any other investment and development
opportunities should they arise.

Management exerts tremendous caution and prudence to
alleviate and mitigate any negative impact in this restless
environment.
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As at 31st March 2020

Principal
Properties

Vancouver
10 2
Beijing 9 21
Shanghai <
Hong Kong
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Principal Properties

As at 31st March 2020

Type of principal properties (by area)

9%

73%
6%

Attributable GFA (sq. ft.)

@ Properties under development for sale 1,598,000
@ Hotel properties 264,000
@ [nvestment properties 192,000
12%
@ Completed properties held for sale 141,000
Total 2,195,000
Stage/
Approx. Estimated Land
Group’s  Approx. gross completion lease
interest site area floor area Type year  expiry
(sq. ft.) (sq. ft.)
(Note 1) (Note 1)  (Note 2)
01  Asia Standard Tower 51.8% 7,800 133,000 C Completed 2842
59-65 Queen’s Road Central, Hong Kong
02  YF Life Tower 51.8% 12,600 202,000 C Completed 2127
33 Lockhart Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong
03  Goldmark 17.1% 6,300 106,000 C Completed 2842
502 Hennessy Road, Causeway Bay, Hong Kong
04 Empire Hotel Hong Kong 45.9% 10,600 184,000 H Completed 2062
33 Hennessy Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong (363 rooms)
05 Empire Hotel Kowloon 459% 11,400 220,000 H Completed 2047
62 Kimberley Road, Tsim Sha Tsui, Kowloon (343 rooms)
06 Empire Hotel Causeway Bay 459% 6,200 108,000 H Completed 2072
8 Wing Hing Street, Causeway Bay, Hong Kong (280 rooms)
07 Empire Prestige Causeway Bay 45.9% 2,000 31,000 H Completed 2072
8A Wing Hing Street, Causeway Bay, Hong Kong (94 rooms)
08 Empire Prestige Tsim Sha Tsui 459% 2,800 34,000 H Completed 2038
8 Kimberley Street, Tsim Sha Tsui, Kowloon (90 rooms)
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Principal Properties

As at 31st March 2020

Approx.
Group’s  Approx. gross Stage/Estimated
interest site area floor area Type completion year
(sq. ft.) (sq. ft.)
(Note 1) (Note 1) (Note 2)
09 Queen’s Gate 259% 1,557,000 116,000 R Completed
228 Zhu Guang Road, (Note 3)
Qingpu District, Shanghai, PRC
10 dbmeFRE 259% 550,000 2,360,000 R/C  Superstructure/2022
72 Yong Shun Street West,
Tongzhou District, Beijing, PRC
11 Dukes Place 10.4% 23,000 69,000 R Completed
47-49 Perkins Road,
Jardine’s Lookout, Hong Kong
12 23 Po Shan Road, Hong Kong 20.7% 15,000 81,000 R Superstructure/2022
13 Hung Shui Kiu 51.8% 104,000 521,000 R/C Land exchange/-
DD124, Yuen Long, New Territories
14 Lam Tei 51.8% 18,500 66,500 R Land exchange/-
DD130, Tuen Mun, New Territories
15 Sha Ha 39% 638,000 936,000 R Planning/-
DD221, Sai Kung, New Territories
16 Kwu Tung 259% 269,000 941,000 R Planning/-
DD95, Kwu Tung North, New Territories
17 Octa Tower 13.0% 70,400 800,000 C Completed
(renamed as Harbourside HQ)
8 Lam Chak Street, Kowloon Bay, Kowloon
18 92 Repulse Bay Road, Hong Kong 25.9% 10,100 7,600 R Planning/-
19 Landmark on Robson 459% 41,000 400,000 R/C Excavations &
1400 Robson Street, Shoring /2023
Vancouver, B.C., Canada
20 1394 Robson Street, Vancouver, B.C., Canada 459% 8,600 75,000 R Planning/-
21 1468 Alberni Street, Vancouver, B.C., Canada 18.4% 43,300 627,000 R/C Planning/-
22 1650 Alberni Street, Vancouver, B.C., Canada 18.4% 17,300 276,000 R/C Planning/-
Notes:
1. Site area and gross floor area are calculated on the basis of the Building Department’s approved plans or the Government’s latest

town planning parameters, as well as the Group’s development plans. For certain projects, these details may be subject to change
depending on the actual needs in future.

R = Residential C = Commercial H = Hotel

Representing remaining area of the project.
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Five-year Financial Summary

Year ended 31st March 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016
(in HK$ million)
Results
Revenue 2,420 1,925 1,862 1,461
Gross profit 2,132 1,602 1,553 1,183
Operating profit 1,969 1,717 1,929 1,266
Profit attributable to

shareholders of the Company 810 814 1,011 550
Assets and liabilities
Total assets 43,673 38,424 31,454 29,572
Total liabilities (18,842) (14,656) (9,370) (8,842)
Non-controlling interests (11,734) (11,237) (10,469) (10,348)
Equity attributable to shareholders of

the Company 13,097 12,531 11,615 10,382

Supplementary information with hotel properties at valuation:

Revalued total assets 49,448 49,694
Revalued net assets 29,219 31,401

Equity attributable to shareholders of
the Company 15,023 16,110

43,367

29,273

15,055

36,101

27,142

13,935

33,370

25,037

12,071
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

REPORTING STANDARD AND SCOPE

This environmental, social and governance report covers the financial year ended 31st March 2020 (the “reporting year”)
and addresses all the “comply or explain” provision under each Aspect of the Environmental, Social and Governance
Reporting Guide set out in Appendix 27 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong

Kong Limited.

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

Al EMISSIONS

The Group did not generate significant greenhouse gas emissions as the emissions were indirectly and principally
generated from electricity and gases at the consumed workplace, vehicles and business travels by employees.

The Group did not generate hazardous waste during its business operation; discharges of water and non-
hazardous waste were divided into recyclable or non-recyclable waste and handled in an environmentally
responsible manner in line with the applicable environmental protection laws and regulations whenever

practicable.

We encourage employees to pay due attention to energy saving measures and explore new ideas on energy saving

while performing their duties.

During the reporting year, the Group was not subject to any environmental penalty.

2020 2019
Al.l  Emissions
- NO«x (i) 56kg 74kg
- SO« (i) 0.7kg 0.9kg
- PM (ii) 3kg 3kg
Al.2  Greenhouse gas emissions data
Scope 1 - Direct emission or removal from sources 184 tonnes 200 tonnes
Scope 2 - Energy indirect emissions 13,403 tonnes 13,783 tonnes
Scope 3 - Other indirect emissions 67 tonnes 100 tonnes
Al.3  Total non-hazardous waste produced
Construction and demolition waste 1,843 tonnes 4,749 tonnes
Recycled waste
- Construction material 1,378 tonnes 1,120 tonnes
- Toner/cartridge 143 pieces 238 pieces
- Cooking oil 4,446 liters 6,336 liters
(i) The data includes emission from gaseous fuel consumption and vehicular emissions.
(ii) The data only includes vehicular emissions.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

USE OF RESOURCES

Air conditioning and lighting are the main contributors to the Group’s carbon footprint. In recent years, the Group
has stepped up its efforts in environmental initiatives to maximise energy conservation, by promoting efficient use
of resources, energy saving and emission.

The air cool chiller system of Empire Hotel Hong Kong and Empire Hotel Kowloon had been replaced by water cool
chiller system in 2012 and 2017, respectively. The old air cool chiller system of YF Life Tower has been replaced

by new air cool chiller system during the year. The new systems are environmental friendly and have greater
energy efficiency and better controllability. In our Empire Hotel Kowloon, the two latest renovation floors have

an individual electric heater supply system and the system can be switched off individually for energy reduction
puUrposes.

Daily monitoring of energy and fuel consumption to identify areas for energy conservation is in place. Phased
replacements of chillers, fan coil units, air handling units, laundry and kitchen equipment, electrical appliances
and lighting have been enhanced to more energy-efficient models.

The Group will continue to assess and record its water consumption data annually and compare it with last year’s
data to assist the Group in further developing our reduction targets in the future.

2020 2019
A2.1  Direct and indirect energy consumption
Electricity (‘000kWh) 19,185 19,386
Fuel (‘OO0MJ) 5,211 8,860
A2.2  Water consumption 128,676 m? 237,193 m?
A2.3  Construction materials used
Concrete 53,907 m3 13,657 m?
Steel 7,663 tonnes 2,071 tonnes

THE ENVIRONMENT AND NATURAL RESOURCES

Property development

As a responsible developer, Asia Standard International is conscious of environmental protection issues on the
design and construction of our properties. Over the years, the design and construction of our properties has been
in line with the green features as laid down in the Joint Practice Note Nos. 1-2 in relation to “Green and Innovative
Buildings” issued jointly by the Buildings Department, Lands Department and Planning Department. The objectives
of such green features mainly encompass: (a) to maximise the use of recycled/green building material; (b) to
minimise the consumption of energy, in particular those non-renewable types; and (c) to reduce construction

and demolition waste. For our development projects in Hung Shui Kiu, Yuen Long, a number of green features
will be and has been designed by our consultants team and implemented in line with the latest government
policy in fostering a quality and sustainably built environment, which will lead to BEAM-Plus Certification after
the completion of the project. BEAM-Plus is a comprehensive environmental assessment scheme for buildings
recognised by The Hong Kong Green Building Council Limited.
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Hotel business

Asia Standard Hotel incorporated various environmental initiatives in its hotel operation to minimise waste
generation through working with employees, guests and contractors to reuse and recycle waste whenever
economically practicable. For instance, water consumption is reduced through our green programme for
guestroom linens. We have placed green cards in our guestrooms, informing guests that the hotel will change
towels and bedsheets upon request. We have appointed contractors to handle used cooking-oil from our
restaurants.

To reduce paper consumption, we maximise the use of electronic communications and file storage systems

for general office work, guest logs and daily reports and whenever possible we use e-confirmations for guest
reservations. In addition, the Group encourages use of recycled paper for printing and copying, double-sided
printing and copying, as well as reduction in energy consumption by switching off idle lightings, air conditioning
and electrical appliances.

The Group’s operational activities do not have significant impacts on the environment and natural resources, and
we shall ensure compliance with all applicable environmental related legislations and regulations.

SOCIAL ASPECT

Bl

B2

B3

EMPLOYMENT

The Group is an equal opportunity employer and does not discriminate on the basis of personal characteristics.
Employee Handbooks outline terms and conditions of employment, expectations for employees’ behaviour and
service delivery, employees’ rights and benefits. We establish and implement policies that promote a fair and
respectful workplace. We provide ongoing training and development opportunities to enhance our employees’
career progression.

HEALTH AND SAFETY

The Group values the health and wellbeing of staff. In order to provide employees with health coverage, staff are
entitled to benefits including medical insurance and other competitive fringe benefits.

Fire hazards pose significant threats, and all our staff are thoroughly briefed on our Fire Safety Guidelines. Newly
joined employees also receive comprehensive orientation on the work safety procedures of the Group.

The Group complied with all the relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the Group relating
to health and safety during the reporting year in all material aspects.

DEVELOPMENT AND TRAINING

Various training courses are regularly conducted to promote occupational safety, personal and food hygiene, fire
and emergency response and customer serving skills.

In addition, our staff are eligible to apply for Educational Sponsorships to pursue external professional courses.
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LABOUR STANDARDS

The Group has complied with all the relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the Group
relating to preventing child and forced labour.

SUPPLY CHAIN MANAGEMENT

The Group appreciates the importance of maintaining a good relationship with its suppliers to meet its immediate
and long-term business goals. Most of the Group’s procurements have undergone a tender process. The Group
implements a just and fair tender process to ensure adequate competition and adopts a series of assessment
methods in relation to supplier management to ensure the quality of its supplied products and services during
performance process.

Hospitality

Asia Standard Hotel works closely with a number of suppliers in providing a range of hospitality goods, including
guestroom consumables, tableware, furniture, and foods and beverages. Asia Standard Hotel assures their
performance for delivering quality sustainable products and services through supplier approval process and by
spot checks on the delivered goods.

To enhance our procurement of environmentally responsible items, we continue to review options to purchase
more products from organic and/or sustainably managed sources, environmentally superior products, as well as
local or regional companies to reduce the environmental impact of their manufacture and transportation.

Property development

The Group has adopted high standards for all building materials in our premises construction, and will continue
to review options to purchase more products from environmentally superior products, as well as local or regional
companies to reduce the environmental impact of their manufacture and transportation.

During the reporting year, there was no circumstance of any event between the Group and its suppliers which had
a significant impact on the Group’s business and on which the Group’s success depends.

PRODUCT RESPONSIBILITY

Our catering operations adhere to all relevant legislations.

Compliance with laws and regulations
Compliance procedures are in place to ensure adherence to applicable laws and regulations, which have significant
impact on the Group.

During the reporting year, there was no material breach of or non-compliance with the applicable laws and
regulations by the Group.
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B7

B8

Data privacy

We only collect personal data for operational needs and clearly inform all customers or persons about the
intended use of the data and their rights to review and revise their information. All collected personal data is
treated as confidential and kept securely, accessible by designated personnel only.

During the reporting year, there were no substantiated complaints received concerning breaches of customer
privacy and losses of customer data.

ANTI-CORRUPTION

We do not tolerate any form of corruption or malpractice such as bribery, extortion and fraud. Expected
professional conduct at the workplace is outlined in the employee handbook.

During the reporting year, there were no reported cases of corruption and non-compliance with any rules and
regulations as regards anti-corruption such as the Prevention of Bribery Ordinance.

COMMUNITY INVESTMENT

The Group is committed to making a positive contribution to the society and communities in Hong Kong and China,
a place in which we operate and have grown over the past decade. Focusing on our corporate social responsibility
and effort on imminent and important social issues, we endeavour to contribute, support and help to provide for
those who most need a great place to live, learn and grow.

With the help of our employees, we have organised various events during the reporting year to give back to our
community.

Caring for society

“The Art of Caring” Community Care Program
was launched in 2009 by the Empire Hotels
(owned and managed by Asia Standard Hotel
Group Limited) in conjunction with SAHK, a
rehabilitation service organisation. Since then,
the program has been giving support to local
children and youth with special needs in their
education and rehabilitation through creation of
art pieces and a series of educational workshops,
learning events and life enriching activities. -
With ten years of unrelenting, concerted efforts e

With SAHK, n 2015, he Empire Hotels group s 488k 1 e el o Empre Sy s ertomances e
was awarded the “10 Years + Caring Company

Logo” by the Hong Kong Council of Social Service

(“HKCSS”) to recognise its contribution to the

community.
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In celebration of this 10-year achievement and the unremitting commitment and effort that both organisations
had put forth, a series of activities was organised from the first quarter of the fiscal year during April to June
2019. These activities were both educational and experiential including an Easter handicraft workshop for SAHK
pre-school students with their parents, and work placement programme for six SAHK secondary school senior
students. The commemoration of both parties’ long-term endeavours culminated in the publication of a special
feature in Headline Daily in mid-July 2019 and the production of specially-designed souvenir tote bags.

Amid the social unrest in Hong Kong from late July 2019, the Empire Hotels and SAHK had continued to forge
planned programmes and activities ahead. SAHK Angels in the Realm of Empire Glory musical performances where
school bands of three SAHK special schools performed festive Christmas music at the hotel lobby of Empire Hotel «
Tsim Sha Tsui on 23rd December 2019.

Regrettably, due to the outhreak of COVID-19 at the beginning of 2020 and its subsequent spread, all planned
activities by the Empire Hotels with SAHK during the first half of 2020 and onwards have to be deferred.

Charity activities

The Group has during the reporting year made
donations of HK$1,220,000 to a number of charitable
organisations, such as Hong Kong Hereditary Breast
Cancer Family Registry Limited, Hong Kong Breast
Cancer Foundation Limited, APO Relief Fund Limited
and Suicide Prevention Services Limited.

Community Recognition

In 2019, Asia Standard Hotel Group Limited was
awarded the “10 Years + Caring Company Logo” by the
HKCSS to recognise its contribution to the community.
This recognition signifies a solid testimonial and a
renewed impetus for the Group on its commitment

to making positive contribution to the society and
communities.

&

SPS (Suicide Prevention Services) Virtual Charity Walk & Carnival 2020
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company is committed to sustaining its corporate governance standards by emphasising transparency, independence,
accountability, responsibility and fairness. The Company exercises corporate governance through the board of Directors
(the “Board”) and various committees.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board consists of six Executive Directors and three Independent Non-executive Directors. The posts of Chairman

and Chief Executive are separate and are not held by the same individual. The Chairman, Mr. Fung Siu To, Clement, is
responsible for overseeing the functioning of the Board and the strategies and policies of the Group. The Chief Executive
and the Managing Director, Mr. Poon Jing, is responsible for managing the Group’s business. The biographical details and
relationship of the Directors are disclosed in the biography of Directors set out in the Directors and Senior Management
section.

According to the Bye-Laws of the Company (the “Bye-Laws”), at every annual general meeting (“AGM”) of the Company,
one-third of the Directors (other than the Chairman and the Managing Director) for the time being, or, if their number

is not three or a multiple of three, then the number nearest to, but not exceeding one-third, shall retire from office by
rotation. Pursuant to the Appendix 14 (the “Code”) of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (the “Listing Rules”)
on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”), the Chairman and the Managing Director shall also
retire at the annual general meeting every three years. A retiring Director shall be eligible for re-election at the meeting.
The Independent Non-executive Directors are not appointed for a specific term but are subject to retirement by rotation
and re-election in accordance with the Bye-Laws and the Code.

The Board meets regularly and normally quarterly and is responsible for the formulation and reviewing of long-term
business directions and strategies, monitoring the operations and financial performance of the Group and performing
corporate governance functions set out in the Code. It also considers and approves future strategic plans and budgets for
the Group. The management is delegated with the authority to make decisions and responsible for daily operations of the
Group under the leadership of the Chief Executive. The management provides explanation and information to the Board
to enable the Board to make an informed assessment of the financial and other information put forward to the Board for
approval. The Chief Executive, working with the other Executive Directors and the head of each division, is responsible
for managing the business of the Group, including implementation of strategies adopted by the Board and assuming full
accountability to the Board for operations of the Group. All Executive Directors have made full and active contributions to
the affairs of the Board.

During the year, the Board has reviewed the Company’s policies and practices on corporate governance, and reviewed and
monitored the training and continuous professional development of directors and senior management. The Board has also
reviewed and ensured compliance of the relevant legal and regulatory requirements, the code of conducts, the Code and
the disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report.
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The Directors are responsible for selecting and consistently applying appropriate accounting policies and preparing
financial statements which give a true and fair view. The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.
Accordingly, the Directors have prepared the financial statements on a going concern basis.

The Board acknowledges that it is its responsibility to prepare the financial statements and to present a balanced, clear
and comprehensive assessment to annual and interim reports, other financial disclosures required under the Listing
Rules, and reports to regulators as well as to information required to be disclosed pursuant to statutory requirements.

During the year, the Board held three meetings. The Directors of the Board and the attendance of each Director at the
Board meetings and the general meeting of the Company held during the year are as follows:

Number of meetings attended/
Number of meetings held

Director Title Board meeting General meeting
Fung Siu To, Clement Chairman 3/3 1/1
Poon Jing Managing Director and Chief Executive 3/3 0/1
Poon Hai Executive Director 3/3 0/1
Poon Yeung, Roderick Executive Director 3/3 1/1
Lun Pui Kan Executive Director 3/3 1/1
Kwan Po Lam, Phileas Executive Director 3/3 1/1
Cheung Kwok Wah Independent Non-executive Director 3/3 1/1
Hung Yat Ming Independent Non-executive Director 3/3 1/1
Wong Chi Keung Independent Non-executive Director 3/3 1/1

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY AND NOMINATION POLICY

The Company recognises and embraces the benefits of having a diverse Board to enhance the quality of its performance.
In assessing the composition of the Board, the Company will seek to achieve Board diversity through the consideration of
a number of factors and measurable criteria, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and education background,
industry experience, qualifications, skills, knowledge, and professional ethics. During the year, the Board reviewed the
composition and diversity of the Board with reference to the Directors’ age, qualifications and industry experience as well
as their familiarity with the Group’s business and contributions to the Group.

The Board has specific procedures for identifying, assessing and nominating suitable candidates for appointment as a
new director of the Company in addition to the incumbents or to fill a vacancy. Nomination shall be based on merit and
consideration of objective criteria of the candidates’ potential contributions to the Board and the Company, having due
regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board. Selected individuals shall be evaluated against the desired criteria with
consideration of factors, such as gender, age, cultural and education background, industry experience, qualifications,
skills, knowledge, and professional ethics of the candidates.
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During the year, the Board reviewed the overall contribution and service to the Company, expertise and professional
qualifications of the retiring Directors, and recommended them to be re-elected at the Company’s forthcoming AGM.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Mr. Wong Chi Keung, an Independent Non-executive Director of the Company, is the Chairman of the Remuneration
Committee. The Remuneration Committee currently comprises the Chairman of the Company, Mr. Fung Siu To, Clement,
and two Independent Non-executive Directors, Mr. Hung Yat Ming and Mr. Wong Chi Keung. The terms of reference

were revised and adopted by the Board in compliance with the Code. The duties of the Remuneration Committee
include making recommendations to the Board on the remuneration policy and structure of the Directors and senior
management, approving the remuneration, determining the remuneration packages of all Executive Directors and senior
management and approving the compensation to all Directors and senior management on termination or dismissal. The
remuneration packages including basic salary, annual bonus, retirement and/or other benefits such as share options
are commensurate with their job nature and experience level. No director may be involved in any decisions as to his
own remuneration or other benefits. The Group’s remuneration policy seeks to provide a fair market remuneration

S0 as to attract, retain and motivate high quality staff. The remuneration is determined with reference to his duties

and responsibility, remuneration benchmark in the industry and prevailing market conditions. During the year, the
Remuneration Committee held one meeting, which all members had attended, to review, discuss and approve the
remuneration packages of the Directors and senior management.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee currently comprises all the Independent Non-executive Directors, Mr. Hung Yat Ming (as the
Chairman), Mr. Cheung Kwok Wah and Mr. Wong Chi Keung. The terms of reference were revised and adopted by the
Board in compliance with the Code. The principal activities of the Audit Committee include review and supervision of the
Group’s financial reporting process, risk management and internal control systems and review of the published financial
statements. The Audit Committee meets at least twice a year. During the year, the Audit Committee met twice to review
the Company’s annual and interim financial statements and the recommendation by the auditor on enhancement of risk
management and internal control systems. All the members had attended the meetings held during the year. The Audit
Committee has reviewed the annual financial statements for the year ended 31st March 2020.

SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”)
as set out in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules. The Company has made specific enquiry of all Directors regarding any non-
compliance with the Model Code during the year, and they all confirmed that they have fully complied with the required
standard set out in the Model Code throughout the year ended 31st March 2020.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE

During the year, the Company has complied with the principles and the code provisions of the Code, except the following
deviations:

1. Code Provision A.1.1 of the Code provides that the board should meet regularly and board meetings should be
held at least four times a year at approximately quarterly intervals. During the year, three regular physical Board
meetings were held in the first three quarters of the financial year. Due to the COVID-19 pandemic outbreak,
after consultation with the Directors including Independent Non-executive Directors, one regular physical
Board meeting scheduled to be held in March 2020 was postponed and subsequently cancelled as part of the
prudent measures taken in line with the government’s social distancing policy. The quarterly consolidated
financial statements and financial review were sent to the Directors to keep them abreast of the Company’s
latest developments. The Company will endeavour to hold at least four regular Board meetings at approximately
quarterly intervals, each year;

2. Code Provision A.4.1 of the Code provides that non-executive directors should be appointed for a specific term,
subject to re-election. All Independent Non-executive Directors of the Company are not appointed for specific
terms, but subject to retirement by rotations and re-elections at the AGM of the Company in accordance with the
Bye-Laws; and

3. Code Provision A.5.1 of the Code provides that issuers should establish a nomination committee which is chaired
by the chairman of the board or an independent non-executive director and comprises a majority of independent
non-executive directors. The Company does not have a nomination committee. The Board as a whole is responsible
for assessing the independence of Independent Non-executive Directors, reviewing the structure, diversity, size
and composition of the Board, the appointment of new Directors and the nomination of Directors for re-election
by shareholders at the general meeting of the Company. Under the Bye-Laws, the Board may from time to time
and at any time appoint any person as a Director either to fill a casual vacancy or as an addition to the Board. Any
Director so appointed shall hold office until the next following AGM of the Company and shall then eligible for re-
election at the meeting.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Group has its risk management structure and allocated responsibilities in order to achieve the Group’s business
objectives:

RISK MANAGEMENT

The Board has the overall responsibilities of establishing, maintaining and operating sound and effective risk management
and internal control systems which includes financial, operational and compliance controls. The Audit Committee, acting
on behalf of the Board, reviews the effectiveness of the Company’s risk management and internal control systems on

an on-going basis and at least once in each financial year and reports to the Board. The management is responsible for
designing, implementing and monitoring of the Group’s risk management framework and internal control systems. The
internal audit function facilitates improvement in the risk management process by assessing the effectiveness of the
internal control systems and reports audit results together with the results of the periodic compliance checking to the
Audit Committee on an on-going basis.
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INTERNAL CONTROL

The Group’s internal control systems comprise a well-established organisational structure, comprehensive budgeting,
reporting, policies and procedures, aiming to identify and manage risks that could adversely hinder the achievement of
business objectives of the Group, provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance against failure in operational system,
material error, loss or fraud to the Group. Proper controls are in place for the recording of complete, accurate and
timely accounting and management information. Regular reviews and internal audits are carried out for an independent
appraisal of the adequacy and effectiveness of the systems and the compliance with applicable laws and regulations.

INTERNAL AUDIT FUNCTION

Internal audit function was in place in the financial year under review to assist the Audit Committee in reviewing and
evaluating the adequacy and effectiveness of the risk management and internal control systems of the Company at least
once in each financial year and to manage the risks inherent in the achievement of business objectives of the Company.
Internal audit function adopts a risk-based audit approach which focuses on the high risk areas of the Group’s activities.
Internal audit review covers key issues in relation to the accounting practices and material controls. The review findings
or irregularities and also the recommended steps and actions to enhance the internal control of the Group are reported to
the senior management.

A discussion on the principal risks and uncertainties encountered by the Group are set out on pages 46 to 47 in Report of
the Directors.

Unauthorised access and use of inside information are strictly prohibited. Any potential inside information identified by
senior management will be assessed, and where appropriate, will be escalated for the attention of the Board to resolve
on further actions. The Board assesses the likely impact of any unexpected and significant event and decides whether
the relevant information is considered inside information and needs to be disclosed as soon as reasonably practicable
pursuant to Rules 13.09 and 13.10 of the Listing Rules and the Inside Information Provisions under Part XIVA of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance.

EFFECTIVENESS OF THE COMPANY’S RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
SYSTEMS

For the financial year under review, two Audit Committee meetings with senior management and Group’s external
auditors were held. The Audit Committee has not identified any significant control failings or weaknesses and it concurred
with the management’s confirmation on the effectiveness of the Company’s risk management and internal control
systems. The Board is of the view that the risk management and internal control systems in place for the financial year
under review is effective and adequate to safeguard the interests of shareholders, customers and employees, and the
Group’s assets.
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AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

PricewaterhouseCoopers has been appointed as the auditor of the Company by the shareholders at the AGM. The
services provided by PricewaterhouseCoopers include audit, taxation related and other services. A statement by
PricewaterhouseCoopers about their reporting responsibilities as the auditor of the Company is included in the
Independent Auditor’s Report on pages 49 to 56 of this annual report.

An amount of HK$10,265,000 (2019: HK$9,727,000) was charged to the financial statements of the Group for their audit
services. Taxation services, review on interim results and other services provided by PricewaterhouseCoopers to the
Group amounted to HK$2,784,000 (2019: HK$1,911,000).

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

Subject to the applicable laws and regulations, the Listing Rules and the Bye-Laws as amended from time to time,
shareholders (the “Shareholders”) of the Company may put forward proposals at an AGM of the Company and convene
general meetings of the Company.

()  PROCEDURE FOR SHAREHOLDERS TO MAKE PROPOSALS AT SHAREHOLDERS’ MEETING

The number of Shareholders required to move a resolution at an AGM or to circulate any statement by written
request (the “Requisitionists”) shall be:

any number of Shareholders representing not less than one-twentieth (1/20) of the total voting rights of all
the Shareholders having a right to vote at the AGM or the relevant general meeting; or

ii. not less than one hundred (100) Shareholders.

The written request (the “Requisition”) must state the resolution to be moved at the AGM or the statement of
not more than one thousand (1,000) words in relation to any particular resolution being proposed or business
to be dealt with in the relevant general meeting of the Company (as the case may be), and signed by all the
Requisitionists in one or more document in like form.

A copy of the Requisition, or two or more copies which between them contain the signatures of all the
Requisitionists, shall be lodged at the Company’s registered office in Bermuda at Victoria Place, 5th Floor, 31
Victoria Street, Hamilton HM 10, Bermuda and a copy thereof at the principal office of the Company in Hong Kong
at 30th Floor, YF Life Tower, 33 Lockhart Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong, for the attention of the Company Secretary (i)
not less than six (6) weeks before the AGM in the case of a Requisition requiring notice of a resolution, unless an
AGM is called for a date six (6) weeks or less after the deposit of the Requisition, in which case the Requisition will
be deemed to have been properly deposited; or (ii) not less than one (1) week before the relevant general meeting
in the case of any other Requisition.

The Requisitionists must deposit a sum which is reasonably sufficient to meet the Company’s expenses in giving
effect to the Requisition.
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PROCEDURE FOR SHAREHOLDER TO CONVENE SPECIAL GENERAL MEETING

Shareholders holding not less than one-tenth (1/10) of the paid-up capital of the Company carrying the right of
voting at the general meetings of the Company (the “SGM Requisitionists”) may require the Board to convene a
special general meeting of the Company (“SGM”) by depositing a written requisition (the “SGM Requisition”) at the
Company'’s registered office in Bermuda at Victoria Place, 5th Floor, 31 Victoria Street, Hamilton HM 10, Bermuda
and a copy thereof at the principal office of the Company in Hong Kong at 30th Floor, YF Life Tower, 33 Lockhart
Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong for the attention of the Company Secretary.

The SGM Requisition must state the objects of the SGM and be signed by the SGM Requisitionists and may consist
of one or more documents in like form, each signed by one or more of the SGM Requisitionists.

Upon receipt of the SGM Requisition, the Directors shall forthwith proceed duly to convene the SGM, and such SGM
shall be held within two (2) months after the deposit of the SGM Requisition.

Where, within twenty-one (21) days of the lodging of the SGM Requisition, the Directors do not proceed duly to
convene the SGM, the SGM Requisitionists, or any of them representing more than one-half (1/2) of the total voting
rights of all of them, may themselves convene the SGM, provided that any SGM so convened shall be held within
three (3) months from the date of deposit of the SGM Requisition. The SGM Requisitionists shall convene a SGM in
the same manner, as nearly as possible, as that in which SGMs are to be convened by Directors. Under the Bye-
Laws and pursuant to the requirements of the Listing Rules, a notice specifying the time and place and the general
nature of the proposed business to be transacted at the SGM shall be given to all Shareholders entitled to attend
the SGM for consideration in the following manner:

notice of not less than twenty-one (21) clear days or ten (10) clear business days, whichever is longer, if a
special resolution is to be passed at the SGM; and

ii. notice of not less than fourteen (14) clear days or ten (10) clear business days, whichever is longer, in
all other cases, provided that a SGM may be called by a shorter notice if it is so agreed by a majority in
number of the Shareholders having the right to attend and vote at the SGM, being a majority together
holding not less than 95% in nominal value of the issued shares of the Company giving such right.

PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

Every newly appointed Director will receive briefing and professional development so as to ensure that he has appropriate
understanding of the Group’s business and of his duties and responsibilities under the Listing Rules and the relevant

statutory and regulatory requirements.

The Company also provides regular updates and presentation on the business development of the Group. The Directors

are regularly briefed on the latest development regarding the Listing Rules and other applicable statutory requirements
to ensure compliance and upkeep of good corporate governance practices. In addition, the Company has been
encouraging the Directors to enroll in professional development courses and seminars relating to the Listing Rules,

Companies Ordinance and corporate governance practices organised by professional bodies or chambers in Hong Kong.
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All Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous professional development to develop and refresh their
knowledge and skills. A summary of training received by the Directors according to the records provided by the Directors
are as follows:

Directors Type of training

Fung Siu To, Clement
Poon Jing

Poon Hai

Poon Yeung, Roderick
Lun Pui Kan

Kwan Po Lam, Phileas
Hung Yat Ming
Cheung Kwok Wah A, B
Wong Chi Keung A, B

U o W0 W W W W

A: Attending seminar(s)/training session(s)/conference(s)/forum(s) relevant to directors’ profession and/or duties
and/or other relevant topics

B: Reading materials in relation to corporate governance, regulatory development and other relevant topics

INVESTOR RELATIONSHIP

The Group aims to provide its Shareholders and investors with high level of transparency. During the year, the Executive
Directors had various meetings with local and institutional investors and analysts. The Board is committed to providing
clear and full performance information of the Group to Shareholders and the public through the publication of interim and
annual reports, announcements, circulars and press releases.

The Company has also maintained a website at http://www.asiaorient.com.hk which enables Shareholders, investors and
public to access to the information of the Company on a timely basis.

PROCEDURE FOR RAISING ENQUIRIES

Shareholders may at any time send their enquires and concerns to the Board in writing to the principal office of the
Company in Hong Kong or by e-mail to acinfo@asiastandard.com for the attention of the Company Secretary.

DIVIDEND POLICY

A dividend policy (the “Dividend Policy”) was adopted by the Company. The Company intends to provide Shareholders with
interim and final dividends, and to declare special dividends from time to time, so far as the Board considers appropriate.
In deciding whether to propose a dividend and in determining the dividend amount, the Board takes into account the
Group’s earnings performance, financial position, investment requirements and future prospects. Whilst the Dividend
Policy reflects the Board’s current views on the financial and cash flow position of the Group, such Dividend Policy will
continue to be reviewed from time to time and there is no assurance that dividends will be paid in any particular amount
for any given period. The payment of dividend is also subject to any restrictions under the Laws of Hong Kong and
Bermuda, the Listing Rules and the Company’s Bye-Laws.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

There was no change in the Bye-Laws during the year.
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
FUNG SIU TO, CLEMENT

Aged 71, is the Chairman and a member of the Remuneration Committee of the Company. He is also the Chairman, an
executive director and a member of the remuneration committee of the listed subsidiary, Asia Standard International
Group Limited (“Asia Standard”), and an executive director of the listed subsidiary, Asia Standard Hotel Group Limited
(“Asia Standard Hotel”). Mr. Fung is also a director of certain subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Fung is a holder of a
Bachelor of Applied Science (Civil Engineering) degree and is also a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institution of
Engineers. He joined the Company and its subsidiaries (together the “Group”) in 1988 and has over 35 years of experience
in project management and construction. He is the uncle of Mr. Poon Hai and Mr. Poon Yeung, Roderick, both of them are
Executive Directors of the Company. He is also the brother-in-law of Mr. Poon Jing and Dr. Lim Yin Cheng, the Managing
Director of the Company and the Deputy Chairman of Asia Standard Hotel respectively.

POON JING

Aged 65, is the Chief Executive and Managing Director of the Company. He is also the Chief Executive, Managing Director
and an executive director of Asia Standard, and the Chairman and an executive director of Asia Standard Hotel. Mr. Poon
is also a director of certain subsidiaries of the Company. He is the founder of the Group. He is the father of Mr. Poon Hai
and Mr. Poon Yeung, Roderick, both of them are Executive Directors of the Company. He is also the brother-in-law of Mr.
Fung Siu To, Clement and Dr. Lim Yin Cheng, the Chairman of the Company and the Deputy Chairman of Asia Standard
Hotel respectively.

POON HAI

Aged 34, is an Executive Director of the Company. He is also an executive director and a member of the remuneration
committee of Asia Standard, and an executive director of Asia Standard Hotel. Mr. Poon is also a director of certain
subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Poon holds a Bachelor of Commerce degree from the University of British Columbia. He
is responsible for the business development and the project management of the Group. He is the son of Mr. Poon Jing and
the brother of Mr. Poon Yeung, Roderick, the Managing Director and an Executive Director of the Company respectively.
He is also the nephew of Mr. Fung Siu To, Clement and Dr. Lim Yin Cheng, the Chairman of the Company and the Deputy
Chairman of Asia Standard Hotel respectively. He joined the Group in 20009.

POON YEUNG, RODERICK

Aged 31, is an Executive Director of the Company, Asia Standard and Asia Standard Hotel. Mr. Poon is also a director of
certain subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Poon holds a Bachelor of Commerce degree with a major in real estate from
the University of British Columbia. He is responsible for the Group’s project management, investment and business
development. He is the son of Mr. Poon Jing and the brother of Mr. Poon Hai, the Managing Director and an Executive
Director of the Company respectively. He is also the nephew of Mr. Fung Siu To, Clement and Dr. Lim Yin Cheng, the
Chairman of the Company and the Deputy Chairman of Asia Standard Hotel respectively. He joined the Group in 2012.

LUN PUI KAN

Aged 56, is the Finance Director of the Company and Asia Standard. Mr. Lun is also a director of certain subsidiaries of
the Company. Mr. Lun has over 30 years of experience in accounting and finance. He is a holder of a Bachelor of Science
(Engineering) degree and is an associate member of The Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”")
and a fellow member of The Association of Chartered Certified Accountants (*“ACCA”). He joined the Group in 1994.

KWAN PO LAM, PHILEAS

Aged 61, is an Executive Director of the Company and Asia Standard. Mr. Kwan is also a director of certain subsidiaries of
the Company. Mr. Kwan is a holder of a Bachelor of Business Administration degree. He joined the Group in 1986 and is
responsible for property sales and leasing. He has over 35 years of experience in property sales, leasing and real estate

management.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

CHEUNG KWOK WAH

Aged 63, is an Independent Non-executive Director and a member of the Audit Committee of the Company. Mr. Cheung
has over 30 years of experience in the finance field, during which he held various senior management positions with many
public listed companies. He is a solicitor of Hong Kong, and is now the Chief Business Development Officer of Future Bright
Holdings Limited. He joined the Group in June 1996.

HUNG YAT MING

Aged 68, is an Independent Non-executive Director, the Chairman of the Audit Committee and a member of the
Remuneration Committee of the Company. Mr. Hung graduated from The University of Hong Kong with a Bachelor degree
in Mathematics and obtained a post-graduate diploma in Accountancy from University of Strathclyde, Scotland. He has
over 35 years of experience in audit, accounting and financial management in several firms in Sydney and Hong Kong
and is a financial controller of a Hong Kong listed company. He is a member of The Institute of Chartered Accountants

of Scotland and HKICPA. Mr. Hung is also an independent non-executive director, the chairman of the audit committee
and remuneration committee of Asia Standard Hotel. He is also an independent non-executive director of Hong Kong Life
Sciences and Technologies Group Limited, a company listed on the GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”). He joined the Group in September 2004.

WONG CHI KEUNG

Aged 65, is an Independent Non-executive Director, a member of the Audit Committee and the Chairman of Remuneration
Committee of the Company. Mr. Wong holds a Master degree in Business Administration from The University of Adelaide
in Australia. He is a fellow member of HKICPA, ACCA and CPA Australia; an associate member of The Institute of Chartered
Secretaries and Administrators and The Chartered Institute of Management Accountants. Mr. Wong is also a responsible
officer for asset management and advising on securities for CASDAQ International Capital Market (HK) Company Limited
under the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFQ”).

Mr. Wong was an executive director, the Deputy General Manager, Group Financial Controller and Company Secretary of
Yuexiu Property Company Limited (formerly known as Guangzhou Investment Company Limited) which is a company listed
on the Stock Exchange for over ten years. He is an independent non-executive director, the chairman of the remuneration
committee and a member of the audit committee of Asia Standard. He is also an independent non-executive director and
a member of audit committee of Century City International Holdings Limited, Changyou Alliance Group Limited (formerly
known as Fortunet e-Commerce Group Limited), China Ting Group Holdings Limited, Golden Eagle Retail Group Limited,
Paliburg Holdings Limited, Regal Hotels International Holdings Limited, Yuan Heng Gas Holdings Limited and Zhuguang
Holdings Group Company Limited, all of the above companies are listed on the Stock Exchange. Mr. Wong has over 40
years of experience in finance, accounting and management. He joined the Group in 2004.

Mr. Wong is also an independent non-executive director of TPV Technology Limited which was privatised with effect from
15th November 2019.

Mr. Wong was an independent non-executive director of Nickel Resources International Holdings Company Limited from
2nd May 2005 to 20th February 2020 whose shares were delisted on the Stock Exchange with effect from 14th February
2020.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

LIM YIN CHENG

Aged 75, is the Deputy Chairman, Chief Executive, an executive director and a member of the remuneration committee

of Asia Standard Hotel. Dr. Lim is also a director of certain subsidiaries of the Company. Dr. Lim is a holder of a Bachelor
of Science (Chemical Engineering) and Doctor of Philosophy degrees. He has over 35 years of experience in engineering,
project management and administration. He joined the Group in 1992. He is the uncle of Mr. Poon Hai and Mr. Poon Yeung,
Roderick, both of them are Executive Directors of the Company. He is also the brother-in-law of Mr. Poon Jing and Mr.
Fung Siu To, Clement, the Managing Director and the Chairman of the Company respectively.

NG SIEW SENG, RICHARD

Aged 68, is the Group General Manager of Asia Standard Hotel. Mr. Ng is also a director of a subsidiary of Asia Standard
Hotel. Mr. Ng is responsible for the development and management of the hotel group’s hospitality operations. With over
4 decades’ extensive experience in hotel and travel industry for both local and overseas markets, Mr. Ng has held senior
marketing and operational positions in a number of major international chain hotels and travel agents in Hong Kong and
Macau. He joined Asia Standard Hotel Group in September 2007.

WOO WEI CHUN, JOSEPH

Aged 56, is an executive director and the Group Financial Controller of Asia Standard Hotel. Mr. Woo is also a director of
certain subsidiaries of Asia Standard Hotel. Mr. Woo is qualified as a U.S. Certified Public Accountant (Illinois) and is an
associate member of HKICPA. He holds a Bachelor degree in Accounting with Computing and a Master degree in Business
Administration. Mr. Woo has over 25 years of experience in accounting and finance. He joined Asia Standard Hotel Group
in 2006.

WONG HOI YAN

Aged 47, is the General Manager of Project Management Division of Asia Standard. Ms. Wong holds a Bachelor of Arts
degree in Architectural Studies and Master of Architecture from The University of Hong Kong and Master of Science
degree in Project Management from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University. She is a Registered Architect in Hong Kong,
a member of The Hong Kong Institute of Architects and an Authorised Person under the Buildings Ordinance. She is also
a BEAM Pro under the Hong Kong Green Building Council. Ms. Wong is responsible for property development and project
management. She has over 20 years of experience in project planning and management. She joined Asia Standard in
March 2014.

Note:  Messrs. Poon Jing, Fung Siu To, Clement, Poon Hai, Poon Yeung, Roderick and Lun Pui Kan are directors of Teddington Holdings Limited
and Heston Holdings Limited. Both companies have interests in the share capital of the Company discloseable to the Company under the
provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of the Part XV of the SFO.
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The Directors have pleasure in presenting their report together with the audited financial statements for the year ended
31st March 2020.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The principal activities of the principal subsidiaries are set
out in note 36 to the financial statements.

The activities of the Group are mainly based in Hong Kong. Analysis of the Group’s revenue and contribution to operating
results by principal activities are set out in note 5 to the financial statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year are set out in the consolidated profit and loss account on page 57.
The Company did not pay an interim dividend for the year ended 31st March 2020 (2019: Nil).

The Board has resolved not to recommend the payment of a final dividend for the year ended 31st March 2020 (2019:
HK1.8 cents per share, totaling HK$15,136,000).

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A five-year financial summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group is set out on page 15.

EQUITY LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save as disclosed in the sections “Share Option Schemes” on pages 40 to 44 and “Convertible Notes” on page 45, no
equity linked agreements were entered into during the year or subsisted at the end of the year.

SHARES ISSUED IN THE YEAR

Details of the shares of the Company issued in the year ended 31st March 2020 are set out in note 28 to the financial
statements.

PRINCIPAL PROPERTIES

Details of the principal properties of the Group are set out on pages 12 to 14.
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DONATIONS

During the year, the Group made charitable and other donations of HK$1,220,000 (2019: HK$1,197,000).

DIRECTORS

The Directors of the Company during the year and at the date of this report were:

Mr. Fung Siu To, Clement
Mr. Poon Jing

Mr. Poon Hai

Mr. Poon Yeung, Roderick
Mr. Lun Pui Kan

Mr. Kwan Po Lam, Phileas
Mr. Cheung Kwok Wah
Mr. Hung Yat Ming

Mr. Wong Chi Keung

Messrs. Poon Hai, Lun Pui Kan and Hung Yat Ming will retire from office by rotation in accordance with the Bye-Laws of
the Company (the “Bye-Laws”) at the forthcoming annual general meeting (“AGM”) and, being eligible, offer themselves
for re-election.

None of the Directors has a service contract with the Company which is not determinable by the Company within one year
without payment of compensation other than statutory compensation.

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Biographical details of Directors and senior management are set out on pages 30 to 32.

DIRECTORS” MATERIAL INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS
AND CONTRACTS

No transactions, arrangements and contracts of significance in relation to the Company’s business to which the Company
or its subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director of the Company and his connected party had a material interest,
whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the year.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISIONS

Subject to the Bermuda Companies Act 1981, the Bye-Laws and other relevant statues, the Directors for the time being
acting in relation to any of the affairs of the Company shall be indemnified and secured harmless out of the assets of
the Company from and against all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses which he shall or may incur or
sustain in the execution of his office. The Company has arranged appropriate Directors” and Officers’ Liability Insurance
Coverage for the Directors and Officers of the Group.

ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES OR DEBENTURES

Apart from the share option schemes of the Company as disclosed on pages 40 to 44, and that of subsidiaries, Asia
Standard International Group Limited (“Asia Standard”) and Asia Standard Hotel Group Limited (“Asia Standard Hotel”), at
no time during the year was the Company or its subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to enable the Directors of the
Company to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body
corporate.

DIRECTORS” AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31st March 2020, the interests and short positions of the Directors and Chief Executive of the Company in the
shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company and its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV
of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO”)) which (a) were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions which were taken or
deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO); or (b) were recorded in the register required to be kept under Section
352 of the SFO; or (c) were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for
Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as set out in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules on
the Stock Exchange were as follows:

() LONG POSITIONS IN SHARES
(@) The Company

Number of shares held

Percentage

Personal Corporate Family of shares

Director interest interest interest Total in issue (%)
Poon Jing 273,607,688 145,213,900 5,318,799 424,140,387 50.44
Fung Siu To, Clement 15,440,225 = = 15,440,225 1.83
Poon Hai 10,444,319 = = 10,444,319 1.24
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() LONG POSITIONS IN SHARES (Continued)
(b)  Associated corporations

Number of shares held

Percentage
Associated Personal Corporate of shares
Director corporation interest interest Total  inissue (%)
Poon Jing Asia Standard 1,308,884 683,556,392 684,865,276 51.89
(Notes)
Asia Standard Hotel 152,490 1,346,158,049  1,346,310,539 66.71
(Notes)
Fung Siu To, Clement Mark Honour Limited 9 = 9 0.01
Notes:
1. By virtue of Mr. Poon Jing’s controlling interest in the Company, he is deemed to be interested in the shares of
Asia Standard and Asia Standard Hotel held by the Company and its subsidiaries.
2. By virtue of Mr. Poon Jing’s controlling interest in the Company, he is deemed to be interested in the shares of all

the Company’s subsidiaries and associated corporations.

(I) LONG POSITIONS IN UNDERLYING SHARES

INTERESTS IN SHARE OPTIONS
(a)  The Company

Outstanding as at
1st April 2019 and

Director 31st March 2020
Poon Hai 3,500,000
Poon Yeung, Roderick 3,500,000
Notes:

1. Options were granted on 11th December 2015 under 2014 Share Option Scheme (as described under the heading

“Share Option Schemes”) and exercisable during the period from 11th December 2015 to 10th December 2025 at an
exercise price of HK$1.42 per share.

2. During the year, no option was granted to the Directors and the options granted to the Directors have not been
exercised, cancelled or lapsed.
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(I) LONG POSITIONS IN UNDERLYING SHARES (Continued)
INTERESTS IN SHARE OPTIONS (Continued)

(b)

(©

Associated corporation - Asia Standard

Outstanding as at
1st April 2019 and

Director 31st March 2020
Poon Hai 3,500,000
Poon Yeung, Roderick 3,500,000

Notes:

1. Options were granted on 11th December 2015 under 2014 Asia Standard Share Option Scheme (as described under

the heading “Share Option Schemes”) and exercisable during the period from 11th December 2015 to 10th December
2025 at an exercise price of HK$1.38 per share.

2. During the year, no option was granted to the Directors and the options granted to the Directors have not been
exercised, cancelled or lapsed.

Associated corporation - Asia Standard Hotel

Outstanding as at
1st April 2019 and

Director 31st March 2020
Poon Hai 14,400,000
Poon Yeung, Roderick 14,400,000

Notes:

1. Options were granted on 11th December 2015 under 2006 Asia Standard Hotel Share Option Scheme (as described

under the heading “Share Option Schemes”) and exercisable during the period from 11th December 2015 to 10th
December 2025 at an exercise price of HK$0.343 (as adjusted) per share.

2. During the year, no option was granted to the Directors and the options granted to the Directors have not been
exercised, cancelled or lapsed.
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(Il1) LONG POSITIONS IN UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

INTERESTS IN CONVERTIBLE NOTES
Associated corporation - Asia Standard Hotel

Amount of Number of

convertible note underlying shares

Director Nature of interest held held
(HK$)

Poon Jing Corporate 1,219,619,192 2,692,316,098

Note: By virtue of Mr. Poon Jing’s controlling interest in the Company, he is deemed to be interested in the convertible notes (the
“ASH Convertible Notes”) held by the Company and its subsidiaries which are convertible into 2,692,316,098 shares of Asia
Standard Hotel. The ASH Convertible Notes are redeemable at the redemption value of HK$0.453 per convertible note.
Please refer to the section “Convertible Notes” on page 45 for details of the ASH Convertible Notes issued by Asia Standard
Hotel.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31st March 2020, none of the Directors or Chief Executive of the Company had

any interests or short positions in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company or its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which (a) were required to be notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions
which were taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO); or (b) were recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company under Section 352 of the SFO; or (c) were required to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS AND OTHER PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

The register of substantial shareholders maintained under Section 336 of the SFO shows that as at 31st March 2020, the
Company had been notified of the following substantial shareholders’ interests and short positions, being 5% or more of
the Company’s issued share capital. These interests are in addition to those disclosed above in respect of the Directors
and Chief Executive of the Company.

LONG POSITIONS IN SHARES OF THE COMPANY

Percentage
Number of of shares
Shareholder Capacity shares held in issue (%)
Heston Holdings Limited Beneficial owner 50,429,573 5.99
(“Heston”) (Note 1)
Teddington Holdings Limited Beneficial owner 60,624,439 7.20
(“Teddington”) (Note 1)
Dalton Investments LLC Investment manager 165,906,485 19.73
(“Dalton”) (Note 2)
Clearwater Insurance Company Trustee 48,341,035 5.74
(“Clearwater Insurance”) (Note 2)
Daswani Rajkumar Murlidhar Beneficial owner 53,910,548 6.41
Notes:
1. Mr. Poon Jing, his family interest and the companies wholly owned by him namely Teddington, Heston and Full Speed Investments

Limited together hold 424,140,387 shares. The interest of Teddington and Heston duplicate the interest of Mr. Poon Jing disclosed
under the heading “Directors’ and Chief Executive’s interests and short positions in shares, underlying shares and debentures”.

2. Dalton is the investment manager for Clearwater Insurance. The interest of Clearwater Insurance in the shares duplicates the
interest of Dalton disclosed above.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31st March 2020, the Directors were not aware of any other persons (other than the
Directors and Chief Executive of the Company) who had interests or short positions in the shares or underlying
shares of the Company which were required to be recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under
Section 336 of the SFO.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEMES

THE COMPANY
Share option scheme adopted on 29th August 2014 (the “2014 Share Option Scheme”)

The 2014 Share Option Scheme was adopted on 29th August 2014. Under 2014 Share Option Scheme, the board of
Directors of the Company may grant options to any Director, employee, consultant, customer, supplier, agent, partner or
adviser of or contractor to the Company, its subsidiaries or any invested entity, their discretionary trust or the companies
owned by them. The purpose was to provide incentives, acknowledge the contributions of, motivate and maintain
relationship with the eligible participants.

The total number of shares available for issue upon exercise of all options to be granted under 2014 Share Option Scheme
must not exceed 76,476,084 shares, representing about 9.09% of the shares in issue at the date of this report. The

total maximum number of shares which might be issued upon exercise of all outstanding options granted and vyet to be
exercised under 2014 Share Option Scheme and any other share option scheme of the Company must not exceed 30% of
the shares in issue from time to time. The maximum number of shares in respect of which options might be granted to

a participant, when aggregated with shares issued and issuable (including exercised, outstanding and cancelled options)
under any option granted to the same participant under 2014 Share Option Scheme or any other share option scheme of
the Company within any 12 months period, must not exceed 1% of the shares in issue from time to time.

Under 2014 Share Option Scheme, there was no requirement for a grantee to hold the option for a certain period before
exercising the option unless otherwise determined by the Directors. The exercise period should be any period determined
by the board of Directors but in any event the exercise period should not be later than 10 years from the date of grant.
The grantee has to accept an option within 21 days from the date of offer by making a non-refundable payment of HK$1 to
the Company.

The subscription price shall be at the discretion of the board of Directors provided that it shall be not less than the highest
of (i) the closing price of a share on the relevant date of grant; (ii) the average of the closing prices of the shares for the
five trading days immediately preceding the date of grant; and (iii) the nominal value of a share. The 2014 Share Option
Scheme is effective for 10 years from 29th August 2014.

The following table discloses details of the Company’s options granted under 2014 Share Option Scheme held by
employees (including Directors):

Outstanding as at
1st April 2019 and

Grantee 31st March 2020
Directors 7,000,000
Notes:

1. Options were granted on 11th December 2015 and exercisable during the period from 11th December 2015 to 10th December 2025 at

an exercise price of HK$1.42 per share.

2. During the year, no option was granted, exercised, cancelled or lapsed.
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ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

ASIA STANDARD
Share Option Scheme adopted on 27th August 2004 (the “2004 Asia Standard Share Option Scheme”)

The 2004 Asia Standard Share Option Scheme was adopted on 27th August 2004. Under 2004 Asia Standard Share
Option Scheme, the board of Directors of Asia Standard may grant options to any Director, employee, consultant,
customer, supplier, agent, partner or adviser of or contractor to Asia Standard, its subsidiaries or any invested entity,
their discretionary trust or the companies owned by them. The purpose was to provide incentives, acknowledge the
contributions of, motivate and maintain relationship with the eligible participants.

The total number of shares available for issue upon exercise of all options granted under 2004 Asia Standard Share
Option Scheme must not exceed 71,851,459 shares, representing about 5.44% of the Asia Standard’s shares in issue at the
date of this report. The total maximum number of shares which might be issued upon exercise of all outstanding options
granted and yet to be exercised under 2004 Asia Standard Share Option Scheme and any other share option scheme of
Asia Standard must not exceed 30% of the Asia Standard’s shares in issue from time to time. The maximum number of
shares in respect of which options might be granted to a participant, when aggregated with shares issued and issuable
(including exercised, outstanding and cancelled options) under any option granted to the same participant under 2004
Asia Standard Share Option Scheme or any other share option scheme of Asia Standard within any 12 months period,
must not exceed 1% of the Asia Standard’s shares in issue from time to time.

Under 2004 Asia Standard Share Option Scheme, there was no requirement for a grantee to hold the Asia Standard
option for a certain period before exercising Asia Standard option unless otherwise determined by the Directors of Asia
Standard. The exercise period should be any period determined by the board of Directors of Asia Standard but in any
event the exercise period should not be later than 10 years from the date of grant. The grantee has to accept an option
within 21 days from the date of offer by making a non-refundable payment of HK$1 to Asia Standard.

The subscription price shall be at the discretion of the board of Directors of Asia Standard provided that it shall be not
less than the highest of (i) the closing price of a share on the relevant date of grant; (ii) the average of the closing prices
of the shares for the five trading days immediately preceding the date of grant; and (iii) the nominal value of a share. The
2004 Asia Standard Share Option Scheme was effective for 10 years from 27th August 2004 and expired on the tenth
anniversary of such adoption date. Following the expiry of 2004 Asia Standard Share Option Scheme, no further share
option can be granted thereunder but all outstanding share options granted under 2004 Asia Standard Share Option
Scheme and yet to be exercised shall remain valid and exercisable.

The following table discloses details of Asia Standard options granted under 2004 Asia Standard Share Option Scheme
held by employees (including Directors):

Outstanding as at
1st April 2019 and

Grantee 31st March 2020
Employee 1,000,000
Notes:

1. Options were granted on 13th March 2014 and exercisable during the period from 10th March 2017 to 12th March 2024 at an exercise

price of HK$2.00 per share.

2. During the year, no option was exercised, cancelled or lapsed.
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ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS (Continued)
ASIA STANDARD (Continued)
Share option scheme adopted on 29th August 2014 (the “2014 Asia Standard Share Option Scheme”)

The 2014 Asia Standard Share Option Scheme was adopted on 29th August 2014. Under 2014 Asia Standard Share
Option Scheme, the board of Directors of Asia Standard may grant options to any Director, employee, consultant,
customer, supplier, agent, partner or adviser of or contractor to Asia Standard, its subsidiaries or any invested entity,
their discretionary trust or the companies owned by them. The purpose was to provide incentives, acknowledge the
contributions of, motivate and maintain relationship with the eligible participants.

The total number of shares available for issue upon exercise of all options to be granted under 2014 Asia Standard Share
Option Scheme must not exceed 125,482,152 shares, representing about 9.50% of the Asia Standard’s shares in issue

at the date of this report. The total maximum number of shares which might be issued upon exercise of all outstanding
options granted and yet to be exercised under 2014 Asia Standard Share Option Scheme and any other share option
scheme of Asia Standard must not exceed 30% of the Asia Standard’s shares in issue from time to time. The maximum
number of shares in respect of which options might be granted to a participant, when aggregated with shares issued and
issuable (including exercised, outstanding and cancelled options) under any option granted to the same participant under
2014 Asia Standard Share Option Scheme or any other share option scheme of Asia Standard within any 12 months period,
must not exceed 1% of the Asia Standard’s shares in issue from time to time.

Under 2014 Asia Standard Share Option Scheme, there was no requirement for a grantee to hold the Asia Standard option
for a certain period before exercising the Asia Standard option unless otherwise determined by the Directors of Asia
Standard. The exercise period should be any period determined by the board of Directors of Asia Standard but in any
event the exercise period should not be later than 10 years from the date of grant. The grantee has to accept an option
within 21 days from the date of offer by making a non-refundable payment of HK$1 to Asia Standard.

The subscription price shall be at the discretion of the board of Directors of Asia Standard provided that it shall be not
less than the highest of (i) the closing price of a share on the relevant date of grant; (ii) the average of the closing prices
of the shares for the five trading days immediately preceding the date of grant; and (iii) the nominal value of a share. The
2014 Asia Standard Share Option Scheme is effective for 10 years from 29th August 2014.

The following table discloses details of Asia Standard options granted under 2014 Asia Standard Share Option Scheme
held by employees (including Directors):

Outstanding as at
1st April 2019 and

Grantee 31st March 2020
Directors 7,000,000
Notes:

1. Options were granted on 11th December 2015 and exercisable during the period from 11th December 2015 to 10th December 2025 at

an exercise price of HK$1.38 per share.

2. During the year, no option was granted, exercised, cancelled or lapsed.
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ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS (Continued)

ASIA STANDARD HOTEL

Share option scheme adopted on 28th August 2006 (the “2006 Asia Standard Hotel Share Option
Scheme”)

The 2006 Asia Standard Hotel Share Option Scheme was adopted on 28th August 2006. Under 2006 Asia Standard
Hotel Share Option Scheme, the board of Directors of Asia Standard Hotel may grant options to any Director, employee,
consultant, customer, supplier, agent, partner or adviser of or contractor to Asia Standard Hotel, its subsidiaries or

any invested entity, their discretionary trust or the companies owned by them. The purpose was to provide incentives,
recognise and acknowledge the contributions of, motivate and maintain an ongoing relationship with the eligible
participants whose contributions are or will be beneficial to the long term growth of the Asia Standard Hotel Group.

The total number of shares available for issue upon exercise of all options granted under 2006 Asia Standard Hotel
Share Option Scheme must not exceed 125,088,061 shares, representing about 6.19% of the Asia Standard Hotel's shares
in issue at the date of this report. The total maximum number of shares which might be issued upon exercise of all
outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised under 2006 Asia Standard Hotel Share Option Scheme and any other
share option scheme of Asia Standard Hotel must not exceed 30% of the Asia Standard Hotel's shares in issue from time
to time. The maximum number of shares in respect of which options might be granted to a participant, when aggregated
with shares issued and issuable (including exercised, outstanding and cancelled options) under any option granted to

the same participant under 2006 Asia Standard Hotel Share Option Scheme or any other share option scheme of Asia
Standard Hotel within any 12 months period, must not exceed 1% of the Asia Standard Hotel’s shares in issue from time to
time.

Under 2006 Asia Standard Hotel Share Option Scheme, there was no requirement for a grantee to hold the Asia Standard
Hotel option for a certain period before exercising the Asia Standard Hotel option unless otherwise determined by the
Directors of Asia Standard Hotel. The exercise period should be any period determined by the board of Directors of Asia
Standard Hotel but in any event the exercise period should not be later than 10 years from the date of grant. The grantee
has to accept an option within 21 days from the date of offer by making a non-refundable payment of HK$1 to Asia
Standard Hotel.

The subscription price shall be at the discretion of the board of Directors of Asia Standard Hotel provided that it shall be
not less than the highest of (i) the closing price of a share on the relevant date of grant; (ii) the average of the closing
prices of the shares for the five trading days immediately preceding the date of grant; and (iii) the nominal value of a
share. The 2006 Asia Standard Hotel Share Option Scheme was effective for 10 years from 28th August 2006 and expired
on the tenth anniversary of such adoption date. Following the expiry of 2006 Asia Standard Hotel Share Option Scheme,
no further share option can be granted thereunder but all outstanding share options granted under 2006 Asia Standard
Hotel Share Option Scheme and vyet to be exercised shall remain valid and exercisable.

The following table discloses details of Asia Standard Hotel options granted under 2006 Asia Standard Hotel Share Option
Scheme held by employees (including Directors):

Outstanding as at
1st April 2019 and

Grantee 31st March 2020
Directors 28,800,000
Note:

1. Options were granted on 11th December 2015 and exercisable during the period from 11th December 2015 to 10th December 2025 at

an exercise price of HK$0.343 (as adjusted) per share.

2. During the year, no option was exercised, cancelled or lapsed.

43



Asia Orient Holdings Limited Annual Report 2020

Report of the Directors

ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS (Continued)

ASIA STANDARD HOTEL (Continued)

Share option scheme adopted on 8th September 2016 (the “2016 Asia Standard Hotel Share Option
Scheme”)

The 2016 Asia Standard Hotel Share Option Scheme was adopted on 8th September 2016. Under 2016 Asia Standard
Hotel Share Option Scheme, the board of Directors of Asia Standard Hotel may grant options to any Director, employee,
consultant, customer, supplier, agent, partner or adviser of or contractor to Asia Standard Hotel, its subsidiaries or

any invested entity, their discretionary trust or the companies owned by them. The purpose was to provide incentives,
recognise and acknowledge the contributions of, motivate and maintain an ongoing relationship with the eligible
participants whose contributions are or will be beneficial to the long term growth of the Asia Standard Hotel Group.

The total number of shares available for issue upon exercise of all options to be granted under 2016 Asia Standard Hotel
Share Option Scheme must not exceed, in aggregate, 10% of the issued ordinary shares of Asia Standard Hotel as at the
date of adoption of 2016 Asia Standard Hotel Share Option Scheme or the date of shareholders’ approval of a refreshment
of such limit in a general meeting of Asia Standard Hotel (the “Scheme Limit”). The Scheme Limit was refreshed pursuant
to an ordinary resolution passed by the shareholders at the annual general meeting of Asia Standard Hotel held on 30th
August 2017 and the Scheme Limit as refreshed is 201,804,047 shares, representing about 10% of the Asia Standard
Hotel's shares in issue at the date of this report. The total maximum number of shares which might be issued upon
exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised under 2016 Asia Standard Hotel Share Option Scheme
and any other share option scheme of Asia Standard Hotel must not exceed 30% of the Asia Standard Hotel’s shares in
issue from time to time. The maximum number of shares in respect of which options might be granted to a participant,
when aggregated with shares issued and issuable (including exercised, outstanding and cancelled options) under any
option granted to the same participant under 2016 Asia Standard Hotel Share Option Scheme or any other share option
scheme of Asia Standard Hotel within any 12 months period, must not exceed 1% of the Asia Standard Hotel's shares in
issue from time to time.

Under 2016 Asia Standard Hotel Share Option Scheme, there was no requirement for a grantee to hold the Asia Standard
Hotel option for a certain period before exercising the Asia Standard Hotel option unless otherwise determined by the
Directors of Asia Standard Hotel. The exercise period should be any period determined by the board of Directors of Asia
Standard Hotel but in any event the exercise period should not be later than 10 years from the date of grant. The grantee
has to accept an option within 21 days from the date of offer by making a non-refundable payment of HK$1 to Asia
Standard Hotel.

The subscription price shall be at the discretion of the board of Directors of Asia Standard Hotel provided that it shall be
not less than the highest of (i) the closing price of a share on the relevant date of grant; (i) the average of the closing
prices of the shares for the five trading days immediately preceding the date of grant; and (iii) the nominal value of a
share. The 2016 Asia Standard Hotel Share Option Scheme is effective for 10 years from 8th September 2016. No share
option has been granted since the adoption of 2016 Asia Standard Hotel Share Option Scheme.
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CONVERTIBLE NOTES

On 23rd February 2017, Asia Standard Hotel issued a total of 2,693,204,266 ASH Convertible Notes with a total principal
amount of HK$1,220 million (a redemption value of HK$0.453 per note) which bears interest at 0.1% per annum and have
dividend entitlement in order to fulfill the public float requirements under the Listing Rules. The ASH Convertible Notes
were unsecured and redeemable. Where a final dividend on the shares has not been declared and paid in any particular
year, the 0.1% coupon will be deferred until the next dividend payment (if previously unpaid) and the accumulated
deferred coupon would be paid on maturity date.

Each noteholder has the option to convert the ASH Convertible Notes into fully paid ordinary share of Asia Standard
Hotel on a one to one basis (subject to adjustment to certain corporate actions) at any time from the first business day
immediately following the date of issue of the ASH Convertible Notes up to and including the date falling on the 10th
business day prior to the thirtieth anniversary of the date of issue of the ASH Convertible Notes. Unless previously
converted, the ASH Convertible Notes will be redeemed on the thirtieth anniversary of the date of issue of the ASH
Convertible Notes at a redemption price equal to 100% of the principal amount.

During the year, no ASH Convertible Note (2019: Nil) was converted into ordinary share of Asia Standard Hotel.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED SECURITIES

During the year, the Company had not redeemed any of its shares. Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries
purchased or sold any of the Company’s listed securities during the year.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

No pre-emptive rights exist in Bermuda in respect of the Company’s share capital.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole or any substantial part of the business of the
Company were entered into or existed during the year.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A fair review of business of the Group, particulars of important events affecting the Group that have occurred since the
end of the financial year, if any, an analysis using financial key performance indicators and indication of likely future
development of the Group are set out in the section “Management Discussion and Analysis” on pages 6 to 11. Discussion
on environmental policies and performance of the Group is set out in the section “Environmental, Social and Governance
Report” on pages 16 to 21.
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COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Group recognises the importance of compliance with laws and regulations. Compliance procedures are in place to
ensure adherence to applicable laws, rules and regulations in particular, those have significant impact on the Group.

The Group has been allocating resources to ensure on-going compliance with rules and regulations and any changes in
the applicable laws, rules and regulations are brought to the attention of relevant employees and relevant operation units
from time to time.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Group believes that the factors described below represent the principal risks and uncertainties which may potentially
affect its business, financial conditions, operations, and future prospect of the business. It does not represent that the
factors described below are exhaustive.

Risks pertaining to property sales and leasing

The Group’s property sales may be influenced by fluctuations of supply and demand in the real estate market,
government policies to curb surging property prices such as double and special stamp duty dampening the demand,
lowering the mortgage ratio raising the hurdle of financing and hence adversely affecting demand. Demand is also
sensitive to changes in interest rates.

Economic slowdown would hit retail market and cast downward pressure on property rental and occupancies.

Risks pertaining to hotel and travel operations

The Group’s hotel and travel agency business may be significantly affected by factors outside our control such as
government regulations, changes in market conditions, competition in the industry, excess hotel supply or reduced
international or local demand for hotel rooms and associated services, foreign exchange fluctuations, the interest rate
environment, and other natural and social factors which may affect the level of global travel and business activities.

As five of the Group’s hotels are located in Hong Kong, the revenue from this business is sensitive to changes in the
tourism industry in Hong Kong, which is greatly influenced by the attractiveness of Hong Kong as a destination for
tourists, business travellers and conferences, in particular for those from the People’s Republic of China which comprised
approximately 68% of the total overnight visitor arrivals to Hong Kong, and is the major source of business for our hotels.

The Group reviews and optimises its asset portfolio to ensure that it is sufficiently cost effective and efficient. The risk
of adverse economic conditions is managed by ensuring proper monitoring of the business performance, and constant
assessment of economic conditions and the appropriateness of the prevailing investment and business strategy.

Risks pertaining to hotel and property developments

The Group engages external contractors to provide various services, including construction of hotel expansions, hotel and
property development projects. Completion of these projects is subject to performance of external contractors, including
the pre-agreed schedule for completion. Any delay in obtaining or failure to obtain the relevant government approvals or
permits also affects completion. Furthermore, the government may re-enter the land if we fail to comply with the land
grant conditions.
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Risks pertaining to financing

The Group requires funding to support the operations, working capital, and capital expenditure requirements of its hotels
in operations, and of any property development in the future. The overall level and pace of future development of the
Group may be impacted by factors such as availability of capital, increase in costs of funding and currency fluctuation.

The Group maintains an open and proactive relationship with the banking community, arranging different terms of loan
facilities from different sources with different tenures and ensures continuous assessment of counterparty risks.

Risks pertaining to financial investments

The Group’s financial performance is exposed to financial and capital market risks, including changes in interest rates,
foreign exchange rates, credit spreads, equity prices, the performance of the economy in general and other factors
outside our control. For further details of such risks and relevant management policies, please refer to note 3 to the
financial statements from pages 83 to 94.

RELATIONSHIP WITH EMPLOYEES, CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The Group appreciates the importance of maintaining a good relationship with its customers to meet its immediate and
long-term business goals. The Group values the feedback from customers through daily communication, and address
customers’ concern in a timely manner.

During the year ended 31st March 2020, there is no circumstance of any event between the Group and its customers
which will have a significant impact on the Group’s business and on which the Group’s success depends. The account
of key relationship with employees and suppliers on which the Group’s success depends are set out in the section
“Environmental, Social and Governance Report” on pages 16 to 21.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The percentages of the Group’s purchases and sales for the year attributable to major suppliers and customers were as
follows:

Percentage of purchases attributable to the Group’s largest supplier 17%
Percentage of purchases attributable to the Group’s five largest suppliers 31%
Percentage of sales attributable to the Group’s largest customer 24%
Percentage of sales attributable to the Group’s five largest customers 43%

None of the Directors, their associates or shareholders, which to the knowledge of the Directors, held any interests in the
share capital of the suppliers or customers noted above.
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FINANCIAL ASSISTANCE AND GUARANTEE TO AFFILIATED COMPANIES

Pursuant to Rule 13.22 of the Listing Rules, a proforma combined balance sheet of affiliated companies with financial
assistance from the Group and the Group’s attributable interest in those affiliated companies as at 31st March 2020 are as
follow:

Proforma Group’s

combined attributable

balance sheet interest

HK$'000 HK$'000

Non-current assets 4,228,126 1,444,942
Current assets 21,322,601 8,130,187
Current liabilities (7,453,964) (2,553,196)
Non-current liabilities (7,304,940) (2,406,597)
10,791,823 4,615,336

The proforma combined balance sheet of the affiliated companies is prepared by combining their balance sheet,
after making adjustments to conform with the Group’s significant accounting policies and re-grouping into significant
classification in the balance sheet as at 31st March 2020.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Confirmation of independence pursuant to the independence guidelines under Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules has been
received from each of the Independent Non-executive Directors of the Company and the Company considers all existing
Independent Non-executive Directors are independent.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to and within the knowledge of the Directors, it is confirmed that there
was sufficient public float of more than 25% of the Company’s issued shares at the latest practicable date prior to the
issuance of this report.

AUDITOR

The financial statements have been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers who retire and, being eligible, offer themselves
for re-appointment at the forthcoming AGM of the Company.

On behalf of the Board

Fung Siu To, Clement
Chairman

Hong Kong, 26th June 2020
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To the Shareholders of Asia Orient Holdings Limited
(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION

WHAT WE HAVE AUDITED

The consolidated financial statements of Asia Orient Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”)
set out on pages 57 to 148, which comprise:

the consolidated balance sheet as at 31st March 2020;
the consolidated profit and loss account for the year then ended;
. the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the year then ended;
the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year then ended;
the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended; and
. the notes to the consolidated financial statements, which include a summary of significant accounting policies.

OUR OPINION

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the
Group as at 31st March 2020, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year
then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing (“HKSAS”) issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
INDEPENDENCE

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the
“Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of
the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate
opinion on these matters.

Key audit matters identified in our audit are summarised as follows:

. Impairment assessment of listed debt securities which are classified as financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income and the related accrued interest
. Valuation of investment properties
. Recoverability of properties under development for sale and impairment of property held for development for sale
Key Audit Matter How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

Impairment assessment of listed debt securities which
are classified as financial assets at fair value through
other comprehensive income and the related accrued

interest
Refer to notes 4, 6, 18 and 20 to the consolidated The procedures we performed included:
financial statements

- Testing the Group’s key controls over ECL,
As at 31st March 2020, the Group has a substantial including the controls over model selection and
portfolio of listed debt securities which are classified staging determination to assess any significant
as financial assets at fair value through other increase in credit risk, forecasts of expected
comprehensive income. The related charge in expected cash flows per contract as compared to under
credit losses (“ECL") for the year is accounted for in the default situation, benchmarking analysis of credit
consolidated profit or loss accounts. The Group adopts a worthiness, etc.
“three-stage” model for impairment assessment based
on changes in credit quality since initial recognition to - With the assistance of our internal valuation/
estimate the expected credit losses for individual debt modelling specialists, we performed the following
securities and related accrued interest. procedures:

. Evaluating whether the ECL models were
built appropriately to assess the Group’s
financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income and the related
accrued interest.

. Evaluating the reasonableness of staging
determination against the Group’s
historical credit loss experience, the
circumstances concerning the business
and financial affairs of the underlying
companies at the time of initial recognition
as well as at the end of the reporting
period, industry information and expected
outlook.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key Audit Matter How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

Impairment assessment of listed debt securities which
are classified as financial assets at fair value through
other comprehensive income and the related accrued
interest (Continued)

We identified impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 . Evaluating the detailed application of key

as a key audit matter, as it is complex and significant ECL model assumptions, which include

management judgments have been involved in: possibility of default, loss given default,
exposure at default, discount rate, etc.,

1) Staging determination and assessed the reasonableness of key
management’s judgements involved by

2) Application of model assumptions performing the following:

3) Forward-looking adjustment . Evaluating the management’s

assessment on the expected
forward-looking view of the
industry of the underlying
companies by considering the
relevance of the macro-economic
factors and their correlation
impacting the ability to pay.

Testing the accuracy of ECL data
inputs during the period on a
sampling basis, by reviewing the
counterparties’ credit information
such as credit exposure, credit

risk ratings, loss rates, overdue
status, underlying assets and other
relevant information.

Testing the accuracy of the
calculation of ECL charge to check
whether it is consistent with the
Group’s ECL model methodologies
on a sampling basis.

Based on the work performed, the methodologies,
assumptions and inputs adopted in impairment
assessment by the Group for the financial assets at fair
value through other comprehensive income and the
related accrued interest are considered supportable.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key Audit Matter

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

Valuation of investment properties

Refer to notes 4, 14 and 16 to the consolidated financial
statements

As at 31st March 2020, the Group’s investment properties
portfolio included investment properties held by
subsidiaries and an associated company.

Management engaged an independent valuer to estimate
the fair value of investment properties of the Group and

the associated company as at 31st March 2020 based on

the direct comparison method.

The key assumptions used in the independent valuation
of investment properties require significant judgement
and estimation and therefore this matter is our audit
focus.
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Our audit procedures in relation to the valuation of
investment properties included:

Evaluating the independent valuers’
competence, capabilities and objectivity;

Obtaining the valuation reports and
holding meetings with the independent
valuer, together with our internal property
valuation specialists, to discuss and
evaluate the valuation methodology and
key assumptions adopted, focusing on
market comparables;

Assessing the market comparables used by
the independent valuer by benchmarking
these against recent transactions for
similar properties and locations.

We found the methodology used in the valuation
of investment properties was appropriate and key
assumptions used were supported by the available
evidence.
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How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

Recoverability of properties under development for
sale and impairment of property held for development
for sale

Refer to notes 4, 16, and 19 to the consolidated financial
statements

The Group has a number of properties under
development for sale and property held for development
for sale (“property development projects”) held by
subsidiaries and joint ventures.

Management assessed the recoverability of properties
under development for sale based on estimates of the net
realisable values of the underlying properties for each
project and concluded no provision is necessary as at 31st
March 2020. This involved the estimation of construction
costs to be incurred to complete the properties under
development based on existing plans and forecast of
future sales.

The estimation of net realisable values depends on
key assumptions that require significant management
judgement, including selling price per square foot and
budgeted costs of construction.

The property held for development for sale represents a
piece of land in Macau (“Macau Project”). The provisional
25 year lease has expired in December 2015. In February
2017, the Macau Government issued a Declaration of
Expiry of Land Concession based on Article 48 of the
Land Law (“Declared Expiry”). The Group lodged a judicial
appeal against the Declared Expiry in March 2017 which
was rejected by the Second Instance Court of Macau in
November 2019. The Group further lodged an appeal
with the Last Instance Court of Macau in December 2019.
The appeal is now pending at the Last Instance Court of
Macau. Based on an assessment of the available facts and
circumstances, the Group considered the full write-down
against the Macau Project made in prior year continues
to be appropriate as at 31st March 2020.

We focused on the net realisable value assessment of the
above items as it involved significant judgement.

Our audit procedures in relation to evaluating
management’s assessment of recoverability of property
development projects included:

. Comparing the expected future sales
prices to its recent transaction prices
or current market prices of comparable
properties;

. Meetings with project managers for major
properties under development for sale to
understand the progress of development
and challenge the assumptions for
forecast development costs to complete;

. Corroborating the cost estimates provided
by management and project managers
to latest approved budgets and approved
development plans;

. Benchmarking estimated construction
costs to external industry data;

. Performing independent legal title
searches and site visits of major projects;

. In respect of the Macau Project, we
inspected correspondence with the Macau
Government and relevant departments
and obtained the Group’s external legal
counsel opinion. We also held discussions
with the Group’s external legal counsel to
understand the Declared Expiry process
and their legal interpretation of this
matter, the merits of the judicial appeal
and any further actions that might be
undertaken by the Group to claim for
compensation and for damages.

We found management’s assessment of recoverability

of property under development for sale and write-down
were supported by the available evidence.
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises all of the
information included in the annual report other than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any
form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we